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Frequently Asked Questions about the FRG/HEG (hereafter FRG) 

If you have a question that is not listed here, contact Mary Fechner in the Office of Research 

Development (mfechner@research.umass.edu). 

1. Question: Can FRG funds be used to pay for tuition of graduate students?  

Answer: No. FRG funds cannot be used to pay for student tuition. However, graduate 

and undergraduate students may be compensated for work on the project and receive 

fringe benefits. See Budget and Budget Justification: Personnel Salaries and Wages in 

the Preparation Guide. 

 

2. Question: Can graduate students be considered collaborators? 

Answer: No. Graduate students may not be collaborators; they would be considered 

personnel on the grant. See Budget and Budget Justification: Personnel Salaries and 

Wages in the Preparation Guide.  

 

3. Question: Can FRG funds be used to support a graduate student’s research? 

Answer: No. FRG funds cannot be used for projects whose purpose is support of 

graduate students pursuing their own research. See Unallowable Costs in the 

Preparation Guide.  

 

4. Question: Can an FRG be used to support travel and accommodations for graduate students to a 

research site where the faculty member is working?  

Answer: FRG funds can be used for travel to conduct research for all personnel 

associated with the project, including faculty, postdocs, and graduate and 

undergraduate students.  

 

5. Question: Can FRG funds be used to pay for research assistance by someone not employed by 

UMass? This might be someone local (e.g., in the Amherst area) or not local (e.g., another state 

or country).  

Answer: The person would be paid as a consultant and their work would be considered 

as contracted services. See Budget and Budget Justification: Other Direct Costs: 

Contractual Services in the Preparation Guide. If this involves work in a foreign country, 

ORD will have the request reviewed by Export Control. 

 

6. Question: Can faculty apply for an FRG grant, even when they are applying for other funding for 

the same project?  

Answer: Yes. However, you cannot receive two awards for the same project. Therefore, 

if you are awarded both you must decline one. If you receive an external award for the 

project you must decline the FRG. If both grants are from internal funding opportunities 

you may choose which one to decline.  
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7. Question: Is a recently-tenured faculty member eligible for FRG funding?  

Answer: Yes, but take note of the kinds of proposals the FRG program encourages. See 

Eligibility in the RFP.  

 

8. Question: Will the FRG support data collection efforts if I am on sabbatical? 

Answer: Yes. Applicants may receive FRG funding to support research during a 

sabbatical period.  

 

9. Question: Does the FRG allow indirect costs? 

Answer: No. The FRG does not allow indirect costs.  

 

10. Question: May I have an off-campus collaborator? 

Answer: Yes. However, FRG does not pay for collaborator salaries. See the Budget and 

Budget Justification section of the Preparation Guide.  

 

11. Question: Can I use FRG funds for a mentor? 

Answer: No. FRG funds cannot be used to pay the mentor as a collaborator. However 

FRG funds can be used for travel costs to meet with the mentor. The onus is on the 

applicant to justify the expense of meeting with the mentor to achieve the goals of the 

proposed project. While not disallowed, applicants must make a compelling case.  

 

12. Question: May I have co-PIs? 

Answer: No. FRGs are for single-PI projects.  

 

13. Question: For the CV, should I use an NIH style or an NSF style? 

Answer: The style and format of the CV are not specified. However, note that there is a 

2-page limit for the CV. See Curriculum Vita or Biosketch in the Preparation Guide for 

what to include. 

 

14. Question: Should I include a 2-page CV/Biosketch for any collaborators? 

Answer: Yes. See Curriculum Vita or Biosketch in the Preparation Guide for what to 

include.  

 

15. Question: I’d like to apply to FRG to pay for the next phase of a larger project. Is this ok? 

Answer: Yes. FRGs will pay for research activities for a new phase of a project. However, 

FRG funds cannot be used to finish a project after all the research has been completed. 

 

16. Question: Can I use FRG as gap or bridge funding? 

Answer: No. See Unallowable Costs in the Preparation Guide 

 

17. Question: If I’m working on a book, must I have a book contract prior to applying for the FRG? 

Answer: A book contract is helpful, but not required. 
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18. Question: Should I include letters of support from anyone else involved in the project, such as 

collaborators or community partners? 

Answer: No. The Department Head letter of support is the only letter of support 

allowed. 

 

19. Question: If I am doing some work in a colleague’s lab, but this person is not involved in my 

project, do I have to include him/her as a collaborator? 

Answer: No, but describe these facilities in the Feasibility and Resources section of the 

Project Description.  

 

20. Question: How should my Business Manager verify my available funds? 

Answer: Your business manager should provide a statement listing subtotals of monies 

in your account by category: RTF, startup funds, grant funds, and other, and provide a 

grand total of all monies you have available. The statement can be in the form of an 

email containing this information. 

 

21. Question: I have received funding for my project that came directly to me; it did not go to the 

university. Should my Business Manager include this in the Verification of Current Funds? 

Answer: In the Verification of Current Funds, the Business Manager should include only 

funds in your UMass account. If you have other funds available to you, such as those 

that came directly to you, include them in the Feasibility and Resources section of the 

Project Description.  

 

22. Question: The budget for my project is very small. Does that give me an advantage? 

Answer: No. Projects are evaluated on merit, so focus on making a compelling argument 

for the merit of the project no matter what the budget request is.  

 

23. Question: I would like to use FRG funds to purchase a database, but I’ll need the DB for a 

number of years. Will FRG funds pay for the 10-year use of the DB? 

Answer: You may use FRG funds for a one-time purchase of a DB, regardless of the 

number of years you will use it. You may also use FRG funds to pay for a subscription or 

an annual fee to use a DB during the grant period.   

 

24. Question: Can FRG funds be used after the grant period? 

Answer: If you need more time to finish your project, you may request a one-year 

automatic extension. You must make your request at least 30 days before the end of the 

grant period.  

 

25. Question: I am a Lecturer. How do I discuss my career stage (junior, mid-career) in the Project 

Narrative? 

Answer: Discuss this in terms of your track record in research, scholarship, or creative 

accomplishments. 


